IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DR. VINCENT M. MALFITANO, AN INDIVIDUAL; VIRGINIA CITY GAMING, LLC, A NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY COMPANY; AND DELTA SALOON, INC., A NEVADA CORPORATION, Supreme Court No. 70055

District Court Case No. 15 OF location ically Filed Aug 19 2016 10:44 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellants,

v.

COUNTY OF STOREY, ACTING BY AND THROUGH THE STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS; AND STOREY COUNTY LIQUOR BOARD,

Respondents.

APPEAL FROM THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT STATE OF NEVADA, STOREY COUNTY HONORABLE JAMES E. WILSON, JR.

APPELLANTS' OPENING BRIEF

I. INTRODUCTION

The genesis of this case centers on two decisions made on October 6, 2015 – one was rendered by the Storey County Liquor Board, and the second was rendered by the Storey County Board of County Commissioners. The decisions related to Appellants' liquor license and business license applications, which were denied by the Storey County Liquor Board and the Storey County Board of County Commissioners. When reviewed in totality, the record before the District Court demonstrates that the process leading to these two decisions was fundamentally flawed and that the decisions were a product of that defective process. The District Court's upholding of these two decisions and the denial of Appellants' Petition for Writ of Mandamus constitutes an abuse of discretion. Accordingly, the District Court's decision should be reversed and remanded so that the District Court issues a writ of mandamus to compel the approval of Appellants' applications for liquor and business licenses by the Storey County Liquor Board and the Storey County Board of County Commissioners.

II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This matter falls under the jurisdiction of the Nevada Supreme Court pursuant to NRAP 3A(b)(1). The Notice of Entry of Order Denying Petition for Writ of Mandamus was filed on March 9, 2016. Joint Appendix ("JA"), Volume VI at 871-885.¹ The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on March 25, 2016. VI JA 926-928. The District Court's Order Denying Petition for Writ of Mandamus was a final order regarding Appellants' Petition for Writ of Mandamus.

III. <u>ROUTING STATEMENT</u>

This matter involves the United States and Nevada Constitutions and issues related thereto, including Due Process claims, Equal Protection claims, and claims related to an unconstitutionally vague ordinance. III JA 511-606; VI JA 871-885. Therefore, this matter is presumptively reviewable by the Nevada Supreme Court under NRAP 17(a)(13).

¹ All subsequent citations to the Joint Appendix will refer to the volume number of the Joint Appendix and the precise page number(s) referenced. For example, "II JA 42-43" refers to Volume II of the Joint Appendix at pages 42-43.

IV. ISSUES PRESENTED

- Did the District Court abuse its discretion when it concluded that Appellants' Due Process rights were not violated by the Storey County Liquor Board's decision to deny the liquor licenses?
- 2. Did the District Court abuse its discretion when it concluded that Appellants' Due Process rights were not violated by the Storey County Board of County Commissioners' decision to deny the business license?
- 3. Did the District Court abuse its discretion when it concluded that the Storey County Liquor Board did not violate the Equal Protection Clause?
- 4. Is Storey County Code Section 5.12.010(A) unconstitutionally vague?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

After being denied liquor and business licenses by the Storey County Board of County Commissioners (the "Commission") and the Storey County Liquor Board (the "Board"), Appellants filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus (the "Writ Petition") in the District Court. The Writ Petition sought a reversal of the Board's and the Commission's decisions through the issuance of a writ of mandamus by the District Court to compel the granting of Appellants' applications for liquor and business licenses. The District Court denied the Writ Petition, and this appeal now follows.

VI. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. <u>Dr. Vincent M. Malfitano Begins His Business Endeavors in Virginia</u> <u>City</u>.

Appellant Dr. Vincent M. Malfitano ("Malfitano") is the sole owner of Appellant Virginia City Gaming, LLC ("VCG") and Appellant Delta Saloon, Inc. ("DSI"). I JA 4. VCG and DSI operate the Delta Saloon ("Delta") and the Bonanza Saloon ("Bonanza"), which are both located in downtown Virginia City, Nevada. *Id*.

Malfitano purchased the Delta and the Bonanza on October 1, 2014 from their long-time owner and Virginia City resident, Angelo Petrini. I JA 4. Because Malfitano did not have a gaming license upon his purchase of the Delta and the Bonanza, he contracted with a licensed gaming operator to operate the two properties. *Id.* Malfitano applied for a gaming license with the Nevada Gaming Commission ("NGC"). *Id.*

On August 5, 2015, the Nevada Gaming Control Board ("NGCB") conducted a hearing on Malfitano's gaming license application, and the NGCB recommended a denial of his application. I JA 227-233; III JA 512-515. The NGCB's recommendation was publicly reported and was public knowledge shortly after August 5th. III JA 513. The NGCB's recommendation was then forwarded to the NGC for consideration. I JA 227-233; III JA 512-515.

On August 20, 2015, the NGC conducted a hearing concerning the NGCB's recommendation. III JA 556-562; III JA 512-515. Storey County Board of County Commissioner and Chairman Marshall McBride attended this August 20th hearing. I JA 114. At the conclusion of the hearing on August 20th, the NGC denied Malfitano's application for a gaming license, and on September 17, 2015, the NGC signed and entered an order (the "NGCB Order") reflecting the adoption of the NGCB's recommendation by the NGC and the NGC's denial of Malfitano's application for a gaming license. I JA 227-233; III JA 512-515.

B. Malfitano Changes His Business Plan for the Delta and the Bonanza.

Because of the gaming license denial, Malfitano set about altering his business plan. I JA 4. Specifically, Malfitano decided to run the Delta and the Bonanza as non-gaming business establishments. I JA 5. This decision required

2

the removal of gaming equipment from both locations. *Id.* Malfitano terminated the relationship with the gaming operator, and he, VCG, and DSI filed applications with the Board and the Commission for general business licenses and liquor licenses. I JA 4.

C. At the September 1, 2015 Meeting, Promises Are Made.

Initially, it is important to note that the Board presides over all applications for liquor licenses, while the Commission presides over general business license applications. I JA 3. The Board is a four-member board comprised of the threemember Board of County Commissioners along with the Storey County Sheriff. *Id.*

The Commission and the Board first considered the applications for general business and liquor licenses at its September 1, 2015 public meeting. I JA 37-38. Even though the gaming operator at the Bonanza and the Delta would soon no longer be operating the business, the gaming operator still held the business and liquor licenses as of September 1st. *Id.* Thus, the Commission and the Board denied the applications for the liquor and general business licenses solely because there could not be duplicate licenses issued to the gaming operator and Malfitano, VCG, and DSI for the Delta and the Bonanza at the same time. *Id.* However, the Board promised Malfitano that "upon Dr. Malfitano taking control of the businesses, the [liquor license] application will be approved soon after," and "[t]here would be no delay in obtaining the licenses." *Id.* The Board also stated

"there is no reason not to license Dr. Malfitano except for the fact that it would be a duplication." *Id.*

The above statements by the Board on September 1st guaranteeing the issuance of the liquor licenses were made after the Board already knew of the decision by the NGC and the NGCB to deny Malfitano a gaming license. I JA 114. The Board knew of the NGC's decision because that topic was discussed before the NGC on August 20th, and Chairman McBride personally attended the hearing on August 20th. *Id.*

After the September 1st meeting and prior to the October 6th meeting, Malfitano, VCG, and DSI were issued a temporary liquor license by the Storey County Sheriff after the gaming operator vacated the Bonanza and the Delta. I JA 38; III JA 603-604.

D. <u>At the October 6, 2015 Meeting, Everything Changes</u>.

1. *Liquor License Applications.*

Prior to the October 6th meeting, the Storey County staff recommended approval of the liquor and business license applications for Malfitano, VCG, and DSI. II JA 53. Based on the staff recommendation and on the Board's earlier promises at the September 1st meeting, Malfitano did not attend the October 6th meeting. VI JA 966-967. As the Board began the meeting on the liquor license applications² and in a departure from the process for the other liquor license application at the meeting, the Board requested comment from its special legal counsel before any discussion between the Board members. I JA 98-102. The Special Counsel presented the legal framework of the relevant sections of the Storey County Code regarding general business and liquor licensing, including Storey County Code Section 5.12.010(A),³ which provides that in order to be granted a liquor license, an applicant must demonstrate "[p]roof of financial standing to warrant an expected satisfactory and profitable business operation." I JA 102-105. Special counsel stressed to the Board that it should specify particular reasons for its yet-to-be-made decision. I JA 105.

The Storey County Sheriff then presented the results of the Sheriff's background investigation into Malfitano. I JA 105. The Sheriff stated that the investigation failed to reveal that Malfitano had any criminal history that would weigh against the granting of a license, and that the investigation demonstrated Malfitano's significant finances and real estate holdings, which were available to

 $^{^2}$ As the Board meeting began, two of the Board members – Chairman McBride and Commissioner Lance Gilman – disclosed that they owned competing businesses in downtown Virginia City. I JA 100-101. Nonetheless, they did not recuse themselves from deciding the liquor license applications of Malfitano, VCG, and DSI, which were their competitors. *Id.*

³ Pursuant to NRAP 28(f), the Storey County Codes that are referenced in this brief are set forth in their entirety in an Addendum at the end of this brief.

operate the Bonanza and the Delta. I JA 105-106. The Sheriff also observed that to him, Malfitano's application was being addressed "with such bravado or gusto" at the meeting due to the recent denial of Malfitano's Nevada gaming license applications. I JA 106. Nevertheless, the Sheriff stressed that the standard for approval for a Nevada gaming license under NRS Chapter 463 is significantly more onerous than the lower standard for approval for county liquor licenses. *Id.* As a result, the Sheriff reiterated that his investigation into Malfitano revealed no issues that would preclude issuance of licenses, and he recommended the Board approve the liquor license applications. *Id.*

In response, the Special Counsel then introduced into the record a copy of the NGCB Order. I JA 106-107; I JA 227-233. The Special Counsel cited portions of the NGCB Order finding that Malfitano had business related problems that supported the denial of the gaming license. I JA 106-107. The Special Counsel suggested that the Board could use the NGCB conclusions when considering Malfitano's financial standing pursuant to Storey County Code Section 5.12.010(A). *Id.*

The Sheriff immediately noted in response that the NGCB's conclusions were in relation to the significantly more onerous standards used in Nevada gaming licensure proceedings as opposed to the lower Storey County Code standards. I JA 108. He then reiterated that the Storey County Sheriff's Office's

6

investigation showed Malfitano had significant financial resources and real property holdings in excess of \$5 million—sufficient to demonstrate adequate financial standing under the Storey County Code. I JA 108-109.

The Board began its discussions, and the Commissioners stated that the issues cited in the NGCB Order along with the removal of gaming operations (and assumed loss of revenue) call into question the profitability of the businesses going forward. I JA 115-120. The Commissioners' comments demonstrate that they assumed every item in the NGCB Order was accurate and relied on that order wholeheartedly. *Id.* Chairman McBride also stated that the removal of gaming from the Bonanza and the Delta would reduce the business's cash flow by 60 to 70 percent and that the businesses would not be sustainable. I JA 115. Chairman McBride cited to no evidence of this supposed loss of revenue, other than stating that his family has been in gaming since 1931. I JA 115-116.

The Sheriff noted that the previous applicant was licensed without any discussion of the applicant's finances, and if the Board were to selectively look into applicants' financial history and use other licensing entities' conclusions and standards, it appeared to him that the Board was applying a gaming standard to Malfitano, and that its inquiries into applicants are being done in a non-uniform and inconsistent manner. I JA 116-117. The Sheriff went on to state that he believed the incorrect gaming standard was being applied and that there are

licensed individuals in Storey County who have many of the issues raised in the NGCB Order, including prior lawsuits, tax liens, and judgments. I JA 120-121. The Sheriff then questioned whether the Board would have to review its existing licensees and future applicants under a different heightened standard. *Id.*

Chairman McBride then touched on the Board's real problem with Malfitano – he stated that a significant number of residents are "upset and displeased at the decision that now [Malfitano was] going to turn the Delta into a sports bar." I JA 125. He went on to state that the Delta has a long history of gaming, that his family and the Delta had a friendly rivalry, and that with the Delta now changing its business model, "this isn't the way it's supposed to turn out, not at all." I JA 125-126. Chairman McBride further noted that the NGC gave Malfitano a window of time to sell the Bonanza and the Delta so that gaming could remain at the properties, which Malfitano declined to do, and Chairman McBride commented that "from my chair, it's – it's not a good path" and "pretty much everybody is displeased [with Malfitano's decision not to sell the two properties]." I JA 126.

The Storey County District Attorney then advised the Board concerning Storey County Code Section 5.12.010(A) and also directed the Board to be specific as to its reasons for approving or denying the liquor licenses. I JA 130-131. Before voting, however, one of the Commissioners worried that the Board "might we want to . . . make a decision later and kind of verify the standings or do we need to?" *Id.* No other Board member followed up on this comment, and the Board moved to vote on the liquor license applications. Malfitano's liquor license applications basis were denied, and the only provided was "based upon . . . the probability of financial instability to operate successfully here in Virginia City." I JA 131-132. The Sheriff opposed the denial of the applications, and the rest of the Board – made up of the three Commissioners – voted in favor of denial. At no time during the October 6th meeting did the Commissioners - or Id. Chairman McBride – explain the reason for the complete reversal of the Board's comments from the September 1st meeting in which they promised to issue the liquor licenses. I JA 100-132.

2. Business License Applications.

The Commission next turned to the general business license applications. The Special Counsel noted that a business license application could be denied under Storey County Code Section $5.04.100(A)^4$ until an applicant complies or agrees to comply with other existing ordinances and laws. I JA 132-133.

Storey County staff recommended that the business license for the Delta be granted, but that because the Bonanza had fire code issues, staff recommended denial of the Bonanza's business license. I JA 133-134. The Storey County Fire Protection District Fire Chief spoke in favor of denial, claiming that the Bonanza

⁴ *See* Footnote 3.

was not safe due to a sprinkler system not being in place. I JA 134-136. The Fire Chief stated that although there was a written agreement between Malfitano, the Bonanza, and Storey County agreeing that a sprinkler system could be installed in several months, the Fire Chief stated that the agreement was null and void in his opinion because he believed that agreement was contingent on Malfitano obtaining a gaming license. *Id.* The Commission then unanimously approved the Delta general business license and denied the Bonanza general business license. I JA 136-137.

E. <u>Malfitano, VCG, and DSI File the Writ Petition To Overturn the</u> <u>Board's and the Commission's Arbitrary Decisions</u>.

As a result of the Board's and the Commission's decisions, Malfitano, VCG, and DSI filed the Writ Petition with the District Court on October 13, 2015. I JA 1-235. They concurrently filed a motion for temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction, which the District Court later denied after a hearing. III JA 497-510. The Court permitted additional briefing by the parties regarding the Writ Petition. In this additional briefing, Malfitano, VCG, and DSI presented additional evidence to the District Court to support the Writ Petition.

Specifically, Malfitano, VCG, and DSI presented to the District Court evidence of the Board's historical practices in granting liquor licenses. Between July 2010 and September 2015, twenty applicants sought a liquor license in Storey County, and all of these applications were granted a liquor license by the Board, except for a single applicant – Malfitano. III JA 517; III JA 607-629; IV JA 630-694; V JA 695-717.⁵ In several instances, licenses were granted when criminal history checks had not yet been obtained, when the applicant's assets were significantly smaller than Malfitano's as shown by the Storey County Sheriff's report, and when the applicant owed money to many others. *Id.* This evidence establishes how Malfitano was inconsistently treated and how he was held to a higher and improper standard. This documentation is also consistent with the Storey County Sheriff's comments at the October 6th meeting that a different and higher standard was being improperly applied to the Appellants. I JA 105-109; I JA 116-121. In briefing before the District Court, the Board failed to address, let alone dispute, any of the five years' worth of documentation reflecting the Board's history of leniently issuing liquor licenses. V JA 751; V JA 718-745.

In addition, at the hearing on October 21, 2015 for the motion for temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction and later in the briefing to the District Court, Malfitano, VCG, and DSI presented a Storey County Business License Inspection Sheet. III JA 606. The Inspection Sheet expressly states that Malfitano "shall have 6 months to install systems after July 1, 2015." *Id.* Six months after July 1st is until January 1, 2016, and this agreement was not contingent on

⁵ The five years' worth of applications were filed under seal with the District Court, and Appellants have concurrently filed a motion to file these same documents under seal with this Court.

Malfitano obtaining a gaming license. *Id.* In its amended order denying the motion for temporary restraining order and preliminary injunction, the District Court concluded that the Storey County Fire Chief's statement to the Commissioners that Appellants were uncooperative was "wrong." III JA 504.

F. <u>The District Court Gives the Board and the Commission a Chance to</u> <u>Explain Their Decisions</u>.

On December 17, 2015, the District Court entered an order directing the Board and the Commission to explain the basis for their denials of Malfitano's, VCG's, and DSI's liquor and business license applications because "[t]he basis for the Boards' decisions is not clear." V JA 757-757. That was, of course, the problem that Malfitano, VCG, and DSI had been pointing out since the filing of the Writ Petition. Because of issues raised by the Writ Petition, the District Court ordered the Board and the Commission to "state on the record the basis for their decisions to deny the applications." *Id.*

On January 5, 2016, the Commission and the Board met pursuant to the District Court's directive, and the statements were telling. V JA 759-760. With respect to the denial of the liquor licenses, Chairman McBride stated that the sole facts underlying his decision was information that he obtained while attending the NGC hearing on August 20, 2015. V JA 769-770. That information did not apparently include the Sheriff's report. *Id.* Chairman McBride explained that he relied on the NGCB and its investigators, and "I came back with the view that

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