IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

Dr. VINCENT M. MALFITANO, an individual; VIRGINIA CITY GAMING LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; and DELTA SALOON, INC., a Nevada corporation,

Appellants,

VS.

COUNTY OF STOREY, acting by and through the STOREY COUNTY BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS and the STOREY COUNTY LIQUOR BOARD,

Respondent.

Supreme Court No. 17005 K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court District Court Case No. 15 OC 00008 1E

APPEAL FROM THE FIRST JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT STATE OF NEVADA, STOREY COUNTY HONORABLE JAMES E. WILSON, JR.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

ANNE LANGER, Storey County District Attorney

By: Keith Loomis, Nevada Bar No. 1912

Deputy District Attorney

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

2d 635 (1979). Further, In City Council v. Irvine, supra, 102 Nev. @ 278-79 the court explained:

The courts, as a general rule, have no business telling a city board who should or who should not be granted this kind of license or which cabaret licenses would be and which cabaret licenses would not be contrary to the public welfare. Only rarely may a court interfere with such a decision of a municipality's governing board, and then only when it can be demonstrated by the one seeking the privilege that the governing board is acting outside of its legal powers.

It is clear from these standards that an applicant for a license has a heavy burden to satisfy when the applicant attempts to demonstrate abuse of discretion by a licensing board for failing to issue a license.

In the present case, after closing the hearing on the issue of liquor licenses, the Board of County Commissioners opened the hearing on the question of issuing general business licenses for the Delta and Bonanza Saloons. Special Counsel Morris introduced the subject by providing a review of the legal standards for granting or denying such licenses. (I JA 0132 lns. 22-25; 0133 lns. 1-18). Under SCC §5.04.100(A) "A license may be refused by any licensing agency until an applicant complies or agrees to comply with all other existing ordinances and laws in force, including the county master plan, and a license may be revoked for failure to comply therewith."

County Manager Whitten then advised the Board that the Delta was current on inspection requirements for both fire and building. (I JA 0133 lns. 19-25). He advised that Delta was eligible for a business license. (Id.) He further advised, however, that the Bonanza was not in compliance with fire code issues. (I JA 0134 lns. 1-9). The staff recommended issuance of the license to the Delta, but not to the Bonanza. (I JA 0136 lns. 9-11).

Gary Hames, the Storey County Fire Protection District Chief advised the Board that the District had been working with the Bonanza to bring it into compliance for about nine months. (I JA 0135 lns 21-25; 0136 lns. 1-2). He advised that, in his opinion, the building was not safe and recommended that a business license not be issued. (I JA 0135 lns. 2-8).

A member of the audience, Mr. Kiddis, questioned Chief Hames as to whether an agreement existed which would allow Malfitano until December 31st to install sprinklers. (I JA 0125 lns. 13-18). Chief Hames advised that there was an agreement in place, but that it was tied to the issuance of a gaming license, which did not occur. In his opinion that agreement was null and void. (I JA 0135 lns. 20-25).

Malfitano attached as an exhibit to his Petition for Writ of Mandamus a letter dated May 15, 2015, setting forth an agreement between Malfitano and the Storey County Fire Protection District re fire protection improvements for the 35 | Page

Bonanza (I JA 0235). This is the document that was not introduced into the record of the hearing before the County Commissioners. Even if it is considered, the agreement states that it is contingent upon Malfitano obtaining an unrestricted Gaming License. Since Malfitano was denied the gaming licenses, the agreement could not be performed. The Fire District had no obligation to perform pursuant to that agreement. See e.g., *NGA #2 Ltd. Liab. Co. v. Rains*, 113 Nev. 1151, 1159 (1997). In any event, it is not the fire district which issues business licenses. That is the decision of the Board of County Commissioners. If the Fire Chief offered an opinion that the building was unsafe, that is certainly information that the Board can rely on in deciding whether to issue the license⁴.

Thereafter the Board of County Commissioners voted to issue a general business license to the Delta but denied the issuance of a business license to the Bonanza. (I JA 0136 lns. 12-25; 0137 lns. 1-7). It is clear that the denial of the business license to the Bonanza was based upon the Bonanza's failure to comply with fire safety requirements. Accordingly the licensing board did not abuse its discretion in refusing to grant the license. In turn the District Court similarly did

⁴ It is worth noting that even after the expiration of the six month period set forth in the inspection report that Malfitano still had not complied with the requirement that a sprinkler system be installed. (V JA 0767 - 0768).

not abuse its discretion in finding no abuse by the Board of County Commissioners.

C. The Boards did not Violate Malfitano's Right to the Equal Protection of the Laws.

Malfitano also argues that the Liquor Board violated his right to equal protection of the laws when it denied him liquor licenses. Malfitano acknowledges that he is not a member of a suspect class, but argues that as a class of one, the Board intentionally treated him differently from other similarly situated persons without a rational basis for such treatment. The proceedings, however, demonstrate a rational basis for the distinction between Malfitano and other applicants for liquor licenses.

The District Court found that the Board did not violate Malfitano's right to the equal protection of the laws. The Board had considerably more information available to it than it had in typical liquor license applications. This was due to the extensive investigation conducted by the NGCB in response to Malfitano's applications for gaming licenses. This investigation concluded with determinations that Malfitano lacked business competence and probity and that he failed to disclose numerous recent and significant items related to his financial stability. In the District Court's view, the disingenuousness of Malfitano provided a rational basis for the difference in treatment between Malfitano and other liquor $37 \mid P \mid a \mid g \mid e$

license applicants. The issue is whether the District Court abused its discretion in making this finding.

Initially, Malfitano suggests that the County applied a higher and improper standard of review to his application when compared to other similarly situated applicants. Malfitano supports this assertion by reference to certain statements made by Sheriff Antinoro. Malfitano does not otherwise identify what that higher standard might have been.

The evidence does not support a contention that the Boards imposed a higher standard of review on Malfitano. What is true is that Malfitano was subjected to a much more rigorous background investigation at the hands of the NGCB than is typically done by the Storey County Sheriff's Office. (I JA 0118). The issue was then one of whether this information should be considered by the Liquor Board when deciding whether to issue liquor licenses to Malfitano.

There are several factors that warranted the Board in considering the questioned information. The information was first, a matter of public record. It was directly relevant to the statutory criteria for the issuance of a liquor license, i.e., that Malfitano show he had sufficient financial standing to warrant an expected satisfactory and profitable business operation. SCC §5.12.010(A).

Malfitano does not suggest any legal reason as to why the Liquor Board could not consider the evidence. Typically, hearings before administrative bodies are not subject to the formal rules of evidence. See e.g., Rosenthal, supra @ pg. 94; NRS 233B.123; NRS 463.313. Indeed, in Carson City v. Lepire 112 Nev. 363, 368, 914 P.2d 631(1966) the court stated that public opposition alone to the issuance of a liquor license is sufficient to deny the license. The question, typically, is whether the evidence submitted is of the type reasonably relied upon by reasonable and prudent persons in the conduct of their affairs. See NRS 233B.123(1); NRS 463.313(1)(d). Here it is submitted that a formal order of a government body based upon a lengthy evidentiary hearing and following a recommendation of the Gaming Control Board after a rigorous investigation is the type of evidence that would reasonably be relied on. It was therefore properly considered by the Liquor Board. Thus, it was not a matter of a higher standard being applied to the Malfitano application by the Liquor Board. Rather, it was that the Liquor Board had available to it the evidence from the more intensive investigation done by the Gaming Control Board. The consideration of the NGC order does not suggest a violation of equal protection.

Malfitano also relies on his arguments that promises were made to him at the September 1st hearing that were not followed through on, that he should have been informed that the Board would be relying on the NGC order and that he

should have been given an opportunity to respond. These tired arguments have nothing to do with whether there was a rational basis for denying the licenses to him, where they had not been denied to others. Malfitano was well aware of the existence of the NGC order. He had the opportunity to respond to any issues relating to his license application by appearing at the hearing of October 6th. Even after the denial of the licenses, he could have immediately reapplied for a license knowing well and good what concerned the Board.

The District Court found that there was no showing that other applicants for liquor licenses had been similarly disingenuous but nevertheless granted liquor licenses. This fact alone establishes the rational basis for denying Malfitano liquor licenses. It establishes that the District Court had a reason for finding no violation of Malfitano's right to the equal protection of the laws. There was no abuse of discretion on the part of the District Court in so finding.

D. Storey County Code Section 5.12.010 meets the specificity requirement of liquor license ordinances.

Malfitano argues that a portion of SCC §5.12.010 is unconstitutionally vague and is therefore void. In Malfitano's view the language within this section which states that an applicant must provide: "proof of financial standing to warrant an expected satisfactory and profitable business operation" is sufficiently vague as to allow arbitrary and discriminatory enforcement. In support of this contention,

Malfitano relies on standards applied in criminal prosecutions rather than standards applicable to applicants for licenses. When the application is for a liquor license, the standard of specificity is wholly different from that applicable to a statute by which a person can be sentenced to imprisonment. Here, the challenged language fully complies with the specificity required of ordinance governing the issuance of liquor licenses.

The burden of establishing the invalidity of an ordinance is a heavy one. A legislative enactment, such as an ordinance is presumed constitutional. Schwartz v. Lopez, 132 Nev. Adv. Opn. 73 @ pg. 15 (2016); Starlets Intern., Inc. v. Christensen, 106 Nev. 732, 735, 801 P.2d 1343 (1990); List v. Whistler, 99 Nev. 133, 137-38, 660 P. 2d 104 (1983). The party challenging the enactment bears a heavy burden to make a clear showing that the enactment is unconstitutional. Schwartz, supra, Christensen, supra, List, supra. In case of doubt, every possible presumption will be made in favor of the constitutionality of a statute, and courts will interfere only when the Constitution is clearly violated. List, supra. Moreover, in the specific case of liquor license ordinances such statutes are to be strictly construed against the applicant for the license. Carson City v. Lepire, 112 Nev. 363, 365-66, 914 P.2d 631 (1996). Malfitano did not carry this burden in attempting to demonstrate the invalidity of SCC §5.12.010(A).

In support of his contention that the ordinance is void for vagueness,

Malfitano cites four cases all addressing criminal prosecutions.⁵ Such cases are
irrelevant to a statute addressing the issuance of an occupational license. As noted
in *Winters v. New York*, 333 U.S. 507, 515, 68 s. Ct. 665 (1948): "The standards of
certainty in statutes punishing offenses is higher than in those depending primarily
upon civil sanction for enforcement." Here, there are not even civil sanctions
available if an applicant fails to demonstrate its eligibility for a liquor license.
Rather the only action taken is the denial of the license. The issue is then one of
what is the appropriate standard required of ordinances regulating the issuance of
liquor licenses.

The general rule applicable to licensing statutes, known as the "ordinary business rule" does require some degree of definiteness in standards applicable to the issuance of a license. See e.g., *Godshalk v. City of Winter Park*, 95 So. 2d 9, 12 (Fla. 1957); 9 *McQuillan, Municipal Corporations*, 3rd Ed. Rev. §26.83 pg. 286. Under this standard, the term "satisfactory", when determining whether an applicant for a solicitor's license had "satisfactory" character and business

⁵ Silvar v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 122 Nev. 289, 129 P. 3d 682 (2006)(loitering for prostitution); Papachristou v. City of Jacksonville, 405 U.S. 156 (1972)(criminal vagrancy); Eaves v. Board of County Comm'rs, 96 Nev. 921, 620 P. 2d 1248 (1980)(illegal escort services); McCormack v. Herzog, 788 F.3d 1017 (9th Cir. 2015)(illegal abortions).

responsibility was found legally sufficient to guide the exercise of discretion. Moyant v. Borough of Paramus, 154 A. 2d 9, 22-23 (N. J. 1959).

There are exceptions to the standards required under the ordinary business rule. Where an area of licensing is the proper and necessary subject of police surveillance and regulation, the grant of discretionary power to license need not be restricted by specific standards. Mills v. City of Henderson, 95 Nev. 550, 552, 598 P. 2d 635 (1979)(pawn shop license); 9 McQuillan, Municipal Corporations. §26.85 pg. 295. It has even been held that where the issuance of a license confers a privilege rather than a property interest that constitutional due process standards do not apply. See e.g., Morgan v. Texas Alcoholic Beverage Commission, 519 SW 2d 250, 253 (Tex Civ. App 1975)(license for sale of liquor was a privilege); Parmenter v. Youman, 31 So. 2d 387, 389 (Fla. 1947)(sale of liquor was a mere privilege, not a right, not necessary to prescribe specific rules of action to control discretion where discretion relates to matters within police regulation); see also Rosenthal, supra @ pg. 44. Indeed, in Kochendorfer v. Board of Co. Comm'rs, 93 Nev. 419, 424, 566 P. 2d 1144 (1977) this court stated with regard to the revocation of a liquor license:

The court below rejected the rationale in *Misurelli* and concluded that appellant had no due process rights under the Federal Constitution. It noted that due process presumes a protectible property or liberty interest. See Board of Regents v. Roth, 408 U.S. 564 (1972). This court and the majority of others have held that a liquor licensee has no such interest. See Gragson v. Toco, 90 Nev. 131, 520 P.2d 616 (1974). Accord, Smith v. Iowa Liquor Control Comm'n, 169 N.W. 2d 803 (Iowa 1969); State ex rel. Garrett v. Randall, 527 S.W.2d 366 (Mo. 1975).

This language suggests that a vagueness standard does not have any application to a liquor licensing statute.

The present case involves an application for a liquor license. The U. S. Supreme Court has stated as far back as 1890 that there is no inherent right in a citizen to sell intoxicating liquors. *Crowley v. Christensen*, 13 U.S. 86, 91, 11 S. Ct. 13 (1890). The *Crowley* Court stated that the sale of intoxicating liquors was a business attendant with dangers. Accordingly, the authority to regulate the licensing of such an activity arose under the police power of the state. Under this authority, regulatory authorities had broad

⁶ The *Kochendorfer* court ultimately decided that the issue of a property interest did not need to be decided as the licensee had been provided due process in any event.

discretion in the licensing of such an activity, whereas they would not have such broad discretion in the licensing of harmless occupations.

This same rule has been applied in Nevada. In *State ex rel Grimes v*. *Board*, 53 Nev. 364, 372-73, 1 P.2d 570(1931) the court stated:

But it has been held that, for the carrying on of a business of a character regarded as tending to be injurious, such as dealing in intoxicating liquor, a wide discretion may be given to grant or withhold a license without prescribing definite and uniform rules of action

In both the *Gragson, supra*, and *Atlantic Seafoods, supra*, cases, the Court consistent with the *Grimes* statement, stated that the board delegated the authority to issue liquor licenses had "wide discretion" in reviewing applications for liquor licenses. Thus it does not appear that the standard set forth in SCC §5.12.010 is so vague as to impart unbridled discretion to the Liquor Board. Certainly, Malfitano has not borne his burden of demonstrating a clear constitutional violation.

V. CONCLUSION

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